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Sailors and sanctuaries of the
ancient Greek world

Alan Johnston
The many small maritime sanctuaries where Greek sailors left

offerings to the gods are much less well known than such great
cult centres as Delphi and Olympia on the mainland. UCL
archaeologists have been contributing to the study of these
widely scattered but significant sites for over a century, a tradi-
tion that continues today.

ave, kave Malea is but one

nautical warning that has

excited my interest in the

archaeology of landfall sanc-

tuaries in the ancient Greek
world. “Beware Malea” — the cape of the
southeastern Peloponnese that lies open,
like the more familiar Cape Sounion, to the
unpredictable north to northeasterly gales
of the Aegean summer (Fig. 1). Once Malea
was rounded, it was time to give thanks to
the gods. But to which? Poseidon may be
the expected reply, but evidence is sur-
prisingly thin forhisrole in such places; at
Sounion he certainly shared the hill with
Athena, although his presence is not defi-
nitely attested at the site by preserved
evidence until the 420s BC.
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UCL at anchor

In the Mediterranean world, a cult site
reserved (let alone partly reserved) for
thanksgiving by sailors is not easily distin-
guished from any other, given the per-
vasive role of the sea in communication.
Work at these sites has involved UCL for
over a century. The first UCL professor of
(classical) archaeology, Sir Charles New-
ton, dug at Classical and Hellenistic
Knidos; the third, Ernest Gardner, at
Archaic Naukratis (a site in the Nile delta,
better known perhaps from Sir Flinders
Petrie’s work there); the fifth, Martin Rob-
ertson, worked at early Greek Al Mina far
to the east on the River Orontes in south-
eastern Turkey; and the seventh, Nicolas
Coldstream, worked at Pithekoussai far to
the west on the island of Ischia (Fig. 1).!
These sites represent a mere smattering of
the many landfalls where Phoenicians
sailing from the eastern shores of the
Mediterranean rubbed shoulders with
Etruscans, lllyrians and also Greek-speak-
ing peoples. And at none of them was
Poseidon the deity to whom thanks were
given.

Excavation by Petrie and Gardner at
Naukratis yielded material (now in the
British Museum, UCL and many other sub-
scribing institutions) that formed the basis
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Figure 1

The eastern Mediterranean showing the location inthe area of geographical

features and ancient sites mentioned in the text.
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of my own knowledge of both the pottery
and the epigraphy of the sixth and fifth
centuries BC. Shipowners and traders (the
two are hard to disentangle) brought their
merchandise to a divinely protected area
and left their gifts for a suitably selected
deity: Milesians dedicated to Apollo,
Samians to Hera, others to Aphrodite and
the Dioskouroi, both of whom possessed a
range of marine cults. Aphrodite, as well
as providing other services to sailors, had
a cult title of Fair Weather (Euploia) as at
Knidos, home of a famous nude cult statue
by Praxiteles.?

Islanders far from home

Our information on cult identity comes
largely from the texts scratched, or some-
times painted before firing, on pots (Fig.
2), and matters become more interesting
when such names are found at more than
one site. We find dedicators at Naukratis
depositing similar pieces on the island of
Aeginainthe Saronic Gulf south of Athens
(Figs 1, 3).

Aegina was the first Greek centre to
issuecoins,in ¢. 550 BC,and it was said by
Herodotus, writing in ¢. 440 BC, to have
been wealthy from trade in the past
(certainly before 458 BC).> A stone anchor
with an inscribed dedication to Aphrodite
Epilimenia, “above the harbour”, was
found there.*

Islands such as Aegina are relatively
barren and so are important in the “chain
of survivorship” in the Mediterranean
world.” It has been my good fortune to see
archaeological evidence of these far-flung
connections in many areas in recent years,
places where often the storm came before
the calm (interest rates on shipping loans
in the ancient Greek world were not set
extremely high by accident). Sailors from
Aegina have been traced by their offerings
to the gods, mostly of the sixth century, in
the Italian peninsula: at two enclaves on
the Etruscan coast, at Pyrgi and Gravisca
(the ports of Cerveteri and Tarquinii, Fig.
1), at another, Adria, in the Po delta, and a
find from Olbia on the Bug estuary on the
northwest coast of the Black Sea, is a fur-
ther probable example.® The ascription of
these texts is occasionally clear, as when
the dedicator names his home, butusually
it is less direct and must be inferred from
the character of the script and dialect. At
Gravisca, a certain Sostratos dedicated
another stone anchor (half of which was
found re-used as building material in the
excavations) to Aeginetan Apollo (Fig. 4).
Less known isoneLethaios who dedicated
clay cups at Graviscaand at ararecult cen-
tre of Poseidon, still called Posidi, on the
Pallene peninsula of Chalkidiki in north-
ern Greece (Fig. 1).2

Crete

Naukratis was a safe port in the Nile delta.
Aegina was scarcely in the midst of raging
seas (although the Saronic Gulf can cause
some marine nail biting). Other sites are
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Figure 2 Fragments of a large Chian bowl or lid (600-575 BC) with a pre-firing dedica-
tory inscription of one Thymogethes, found at Naukratis; the joined fragments are in the
British Museum and UCL’s Classical Archaeology collection.

far more threatening. Most of the south
coast of Crete is a forbidding place. Mene-
laos is said by Homer to have been blown
off course on his return from Trey and to
havebeen stormdrivenonto the coastnear
the ancient sites of Gortys and Phaistos.’
Some of his men may have landed at
present-day Kommos (Figs 1, 5), in its day
a palatial Minoan centre. Later it became a
cult centre that was host to a range of itin-
erant traders, as excavation has clearly
demonstrated. They included Phoeni-
cians in the ninth—eighth centuries Bc,
curiously identified more by their ampho-
rae than by the usual jugs and plates, and a
range of mainland Greeks in the seventh
century, including Boeotians, famed oth-
erwise in the Greek world for their stay-at-
home Farmer Giles image (Fig. 6).!° Homer
also tells us of the fine line between
exchange and piracy, and Crete, especially
the south and west coasts, was to become a
notorious haven for their activity, until

Pompey rooted them out in the 60s BC. We
evenhave the word syle (“booty”) proudly
written on some dedications to gods in the
sixth century, from the large Ionian Greek
sanctuaries on the island of Samos and at
nearby Miletos (Fig. 1).*

Kythera and Antikythera

Menelaos’ fleet returning from Trey was
split in two at Cape Malea; to reach the
south coast of Crete, one squadron would
have passed through the Kythera—Anti-
kythera island chain (Fig. 1). The latter is
famous as the location of a first-century B
wreck that was the source of many bronze
statues, recovered by sponge-divers in
1900-1901, but the former has never quite
hit the headlines — yet. In the 1960s the
British School at Athens conducted exca-
vations under Nicolas Coldstream and
George Huxley at the port of Kastri on
Kythera,'? and during the past four years
Cyprian Broodbank has led an Institute
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Figure3 SomeoftheChiancupsdedicatedbythetrader Aristophantos at the sanctuary

of Aphaia on Aegina, c. 550 BC.
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Figure 4 Part of a marble anchor stock,
1.15m long, with a dedication to Aegi-
netan Apollo by one Sostratos, from the
sanctuarvandtrading post ofGravisca, the
port of Etruscan Tarquinia, c. 500 BC.

project that has just completed an intense
survey of much of the southern half of this
relatively large island,' another of Aphro-
dite’'s homes, Work on the results of the
survey is under way, and so the signifi-
cance of the harbour from period to period
is not yet fully elucidated; but there is no
sign yet that it flourished in the sixth cen-
tury BC, which has been the centre of our
attention thus far.

However, on the tiny (700x250m) islet
of Mikridragonera (Fig. 1) off an island
(Dragonera) off an island (Kythera), our
Greek government colleague, Aris Tsara-
vopoulos (a UCL alumnus) has found clear
traces of a sailors’ sanctuary. Here,
together with pottery of the Hellenistic
and early Roman periods, which are not
well represented on Kythera itself, he has
discovered a variety of coins that include
pieces from a very far-flungrange of mints,
from the Black Sea to Ibiza in the western
Mediterranean.” At the sanctuary on
Mikridragonera, many sailors also dedi-
cated their finger rings to a deity not yet
named in any known text.
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Figure 5 The site of Kommos on the south coast of Crete, seen from the northeast.

Into the Adriatic

To find any comparable set of dedicated
material we have to travel far to the north-
west. Off the west coast of the Peloponnese
we pass Prete, a small offshore islet with
shelter, used by an Athenian fleet during
the Peloponnesian War and marked by
rock-cut inscriptions of Roman date that
include arequest to the Dioskouroi for fair
passage (euploia),”® Northwards, one
would expect to find a sailors’ sanctuary
somewhere in the area of the Gulf of Vlorés
in southern Albania, the location of
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Figure 6 Graffitoin Boeotian scriptona
local drinking cup from Kommos, seventh
century BC; this is an owner’s inscription;
similar scraps oftext found may be dedi-
cations and one is an alphabet row.

ancient Oricium; from here it is a short
crossing to the heel of Italy at Cape Leuca,
where further rock-cut texts trace the
southwesterly route,'° before the open-sea
crossing towards the toe makes landfall at
Cape Lacinio (Colonna) (Fig. 1). The latter
is the site of an important sanctuary of
Hera, which was also a political centre,
the home of a league of Greek colonies
attempting to resist external aggression,
where anchors were dedicated alongside
statuary.*’

For those sailing northwards up the
Adriatic, currents led ships past theisland
of Palagruza, then up to the exposed Punta
Planka (Diomedis), north of Split, before

the trading stations of the Po valley and the
head of the Adriatic could be reached (Fig.
1). Atboth these sites the perspicacity and
persistence of Branko Kirigin of the Split
Archaeological Museum have reaped rich
rewards. Palagruza is close to the centre of
the Adriatic, a speck with a lighthouse on
it. Yet it has recently yielded to archaeol-
ogists in a short excavation season (as well
as to passing sailors) a remarkablerange of
finds: a significant quantity of early Neo-
lithic material, then a gap until the early

Figure 7 Inscribed fragment (left) of a phiale (libation bowl) found on Palagruza, pre-
serving most o fthe name of the recipient, Diomedes; it very closely resembles a phiale
from atombofc. 500 BC at Kamiros on Rhodes (right, diameter 17.7 cm), British Museum

(number 1864.10-7.1469).
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Figure 8 Dedication onrim of a cup from Punta Planka, width of upperrim c. 10cm;
oneofthe better preserved texts, with the nameofthe dedicator, Tritaios, and the recipi-
ent, Diomedes; probably second century BC.

Bronze Age, and then silence again until  century BC (Fig. 8), spanning the period in
the late sixth century BC. The later material ~ which Romans and Illyrian pirates wres-
displays a marked similarity to the vastly tled for control at sea, and the subsequent
greater quantity found at the two prime Roman takeover. Nevertheless, all the texts
sites on the Po delta, Adria and Spina (Fig.  butone are, orappear tobe, in Greek. Work
1), which suggests that the island was a  is still in progress on these sherds, but it is
stopping point for boats on the long haul already clear that the type of dedicatory
north.’® Some 50 of the sherds are in- formulathatis most common - “X and his
scribed, and from two of them we can fellow crew (synnautai) to Oiomedes” —is
deduce the name of the dedicatee —notan  one that is also glimpsed in the latest frag-
Olympian, not the Dioskouroi, butthe Tro- ments from Palagruza. If Greek heroes
jan hero Diomedes (Fig. 7). His “presence”  could battle through these rough seas, so
in the area is known from literary sources.  too can we, who, many centuries later, try
The early ones describe how he fled west  to follow their trail.

after his return home from Troy, and the

later ones tell of the foundation of towns Notes

by the returning hero. The latter havebeen 1. See C. T. Newton, A history of the discov-
dismissed as later rationalizing myth, but eries at Halicarnassos, Cnidus and
now we have to reconsider the myth Branchidae, 2 Vols_(London: Day & Son,
history of the region back into the sixth 186,2_3);W' F. Petrie & E. Gardner, Nauk-
century. ratis, vols 1 and 2 (London: Egypt Explo-
. rationFund, 1886,1888); C. M. Robertson,
The Gr'eek maFerlal from Palagruza “Excavations at Al Mina, Soueidia, IV.
peters out in the third century BC. Some of The early Greek pottery”, Journal of Hel-
the latest material is of southern Italian lenic Studies 60, 2—21, 1940; J. N. Cold-
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Coldstream, “Drinking and eating in
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tionally the promontory of Punta Planka

marks the divide be.tween the north e.md (eds), 303-310 (Naples: Centre Jean
south Adriatic, and it has yielded similar Bérard, 1998).
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by Kirigin and Cac¢e consisted mainly of archaic Greece (Oxford: Oxford Univer-
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